

Desktop Series Quick Start Guide



Table of Contents

Desktop Tools Safety and Precautions	5
What's in the Crate?	7
ShopBot Desktop Overview (Model DT MAX 36" x 24" Shown)	9
Uncrating	10
Assemble Parts	10
Tool Orientation and Direction of Axes	11
Video Demonstration	12
Software and Computer Configuration	13
Computer Recommendations	14
Computer Configuration	14
Installing ShopBot 3 Control Software and VCarve Pro Software	20
Software Overview	21
Plug in Pendant and Connect Power	22
Launch Software	23
Set up Home Position and Square the Machine	25
Zero the X- and Y-axes	27
Tool Movement	28
The Position Window	28
The Keypad	29
Installing a Bit	29
Zero the Z-Axis	31
Move to Home Position – Keypad Shortcut	35
Spindle Warm-up Routine	35
Desktop Spindle RPM Settings	36
Trim the Deck	37
Switch to ShopBot FULL	39

Surfacing the Deck	39
VCarve Pro	41
Maintenance	42
Transportation	42
Resources	43
ShopBot Tutorials & Videos	43
ShopBot Training Classes	43
CAD/CAM Software Packages	43
Tooling, Materials, and more	43
ShopBot Forum	43
Technical Support	43

Desktop Tools Safety and Precautions

WARNING! Read all safety warnings, instructions, illustrations and specifications provided with this power tool. Failure to follow all instructions listed below may result in electric shock, fire, and/or serious injury. Save all warnings and instructions for future reference. Refer to the General Power Tool Safety Warnings document sent with the User's Guide.



Learn and understand safe use of the machine. Do not allow untrained individuals to operate the machine without supervision. Be aware of the location of the Emergency Stop switches at all times.



Eye and ear protection MUST be worn by the machine operator as well as any bystanders or observers. Flying sawdust, material chips, and other debris can cause serious eye injury.



Wear closed-toe shoes at all times.



Make sure that your material is properly secured before cutting, and be aware of any small parts that may come loose after being cut. If a small part catches the edge of a spinning bit, it can be thrown forcefully in any direction, causing injury or damage.



Never place your hands on the rails of the ShopBot. Be aware that the machine may move unexpectedly in any direction, which can cause serious injury if your hands are in the path of movement.



Never wear gloves while operating the machine. As with any power tool, a glove can get caught in moving or spinning parts and pull your hand into the machinery.



Never leave a machine running and unattended. Understand that a spinning tool generates friction and heat, creating a risk of fire. This risk is minimized by using correct chip load, using sharp bits, and by always double-checking your files before cutting. Be prepared to pause or stop the cut if something seems incorrect or unsafe.



Keep a working fire extinguisher within reach of the machine, for the reasons listed above.

Desktop Safety and Precautions (cont'd)

Limitations on ambient conditions – This tool is intended for indoor use; Do not run the tool outside or in wet weather.

The tool is intended to be used with wood, plastic, or non-ferrous materials. It is not intended for use with ferrous materials.

Transportation - This tool can be transported by two people by grabbing from the bottom front and rear locations.



(along bottom of tool)

Rear Lifting Points (along bottom of tool)



What's in the Crate?

Desktop Tools

Desktop MAX model shown above with spindle and Variable Frequency Drive (VFD) speed controller.



Manilla Envelope, which includes:

- Desktop Quick Start Guide
- Desktop Enclosure Document (if applicable)
- Accessory Documents (if applicable)
- Thumb Drive with Software



Hold Down Hardware



Z-Zero Assembly



Collet Wrenches



Pendant



Power Cord



USB Cable



1/4" & 1/2" Spindle Collet Sets

MAX ATC includes 6 - 1/4" Spindle Collets NO 1/2"

ShopBot Desktop Overview (Model DT MAX 36" x 24" Shown)



Uncrating



The ShopBot Desktop comes securely crated for shipping.

Use a claw hammer to remove each of the four metal clips.

Use caution, clips are under tension and may spring during removal.

Remove all accessories packed with the Desktop.

Remove packing materials and sides of crate using a #2 phillips screwdriver and cordless drill.

Lift Desktop onto a sturdy table or bench.

CAUTION!!

The ShopBot Desktop is a substantial tool and depending on accessories, it can weigh from 150 to 190 lbs. Have AT LEAST one additional person help lift the tool.





Assemble Parts

Adjust leveling feet with 5/8" wrench so the tool doesn't rock - then use a 9/16" wrench and nuts to lock the leveling feet into position.

If the Desktop is equipped with a dust collector, slide the supplied hose over the vertical hose tube and attach hose to the upper bracket with hose clamp.



Note: The bottom of the hose should not be clamped so it can freely slide up and down on the tube during operation.

Refer to Desktop Dust Collection Setup Manual in the Desktop section of ShopBot Docs at www.shopbottools.com if you are planning on using dust collection.

Refer to the Mini Enclosure document to install the enclosure if applicable.

Tool Orientation and Direction of Axes

The pictures below show the axis orientation for the ShopBot Desktop 24" x 18" and the ShopBot Desktop MAX 36" x 24."

Normally, the 0, 0, 0 point is located at the intersection of the three axes as shown, and the "front" side is noted.



Video Demonstration

Accompanying documentation and videos can be found throughout ShopBot media. Below are links to the Desktop Quick Start Series videos. These videos and links to the ShopBot YouTube channel can be found on the Documentation page of the ShopBot Website, under the Desktop/Desktop MAX heading.

ShopBot Desktop Quick Start Videos and Tutorials:

Playlist for Desktop/MAX Setup Videos (tools shipped from Aug 2017 - current)

https://www.youtube.com/playlist?list=PLf632tVju0dFAcVIv0Z8DrLigm9Q0V-zC

What's in the Crate?

https://youtu.be/LG7ZlhAf1xg

Installing Windows and Setting up Control Computer

https://www.shopbottools.com/support/fag/62

Powering up and Connecting

https://youtu.be/f5TAtIZHJTE

Beginning Cuts and Operations

https://youtu.be/vscFI13_tOE

Playlist for Desktop Quick Start Videos (tools shipped July 2017 - earlier)

https://www.youtube.com/playlist?list=PLf632tVju0dHQph6LOtw0HHpaTiaNMpKn

Software and Computer Configuration

Introduction

The PC running ShopBot 3 will require special setup to prevent normal Windows and background processes from interfering with tool communication and operation. All new PCs will require these changes to their out-of-the-box state in order to optimize performance.

It is highly recommended that you exclusively run the ShopBot software from a dedicated PC. If the PC running your tool is managed by an IT department or other group, we also advise a clean install of Windows **without** any management software or settings. This will ensure that the computer is at minimal usage.

Refer to the previous page for links to videos on how to configure your computer with Windows.

ShopBot tools are shipped with three software programs that can program, edit, and run part files. This section covers the configuration of your Windows computer, installation of all software and provides a basic overview of the ShopBot control software. Additional information and training can be found in the control software "Help" menu as well as ShopBottools.com and Vectric.com.

The following software will be installed during this section:

ShopBot 3: Control software used to operate the ShopBot tool and run part files.

ShopBot Editor: Enhanced text editing software used to view and edit ShopBot part files.

VCarve Pro – ShopBot Edition: CAD/CAM software used to create and edit designs, and assign tool paths to create part files.



Computer Recommendations

A PC running Windows XP to the current version of Windows is required. The equivalent of a dual core or higher processor, and a minimum of 4GB RAM (8GB preferred) is recommended.

A graphics display of 1024 x 768 will provide a good display, although a higher resolution may be preferable.

Computer Configuration

Important: Some programs and features will interrupt the proper installation of ShopBot 3 control software. To ensure trouble free installation and operation, ShopBot recommends performing the following actions before installation.

- 1. Install the software using an administrative account.
- _____2. Set User Account Control (UAC, not applicable to Windows XP) to "Never Notify."
- _____ 3. Set power options
- 4. Windows update settings/Disable network connection.
- 5. Disable background tasks.
- 6. Make sure the USB cable from the ShopBot is not plugged in.

Before continuing, open the Windows Task Manager and click on the "Performance" tab. Below is an example of a good setup. There are no processes greatly affecting CCPU usage and 4GB RAM is available.

le Options View	Help				
Applications Processes	Services	Performance Net	working Users		
CPU Usage	CPU Usage H	istory			
10 %	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~		An	~~~	
Memory	Physical Mem	ory Usage History			
3.63 GB					
Physical Memory (MB)) —	System			
Total	8078	Handles	37289		
Cached	3893	Threads	1304		
Available	4351	Processes	102		
Free	506	Up Time	0:00:39:33		
Kernel Memory (MB)		Commit (GB)	4/15		
Paged	436			-	
Nonpaged	112	Resource	e Monitor		
				_	

1. Install the software using an administrative account

When it comes time to install SB3 and VCarve Pro (later steps) make sure you are using an administrative account.

2. Set User Account Control (UAC, not applicable to Windows XP) to "Never Notify."

The first process to change is User Account Control. This can be found by performing a search from the Start Menu in Windows 7 & 10, or by swiping in from the right edge of the screen and selecting the "Search" icon in Windows 8. Then, type "User Account Control" or "UAC" into the search box and press Enter. This will bring up the User Account Control Settings window, containing a slider. You should ensure that this is set to "Never Notify", as it will prevent popups from interrupting software.

🛞 User Account Control Settings	
Choose when to be User Account Control hel <u>Tell me more about User</u> Always notify	provide about changes to your computer prevent potentially harmful programs from making changes to your computer. <u>Account Control settings</u>
	 Never notify me when: Programs try to install software or make changes to my computer I make changes to Windows settings
 Never notify	Not recommended. Choose this only if you need to use programs that are not certified for Windows 7 because they do not support User Account Control.
	OK Cancel

This is what the UAC settings window should look like. Note the slider is set to "Never Notify".

[©] Copyright Nov. 2022 ShopBot Tools, Inc.

3. Set power options

Next, you will want to change the Power Options. To begin, open the Start Menu (for Windows 7 & 10, click "Start"; for Windows 8, swipe from the right). Type "Power Options" in the search box and press Enter. This will bring up a menu in which you are asked to "Select a power plan" (see image below, left side).

		Power Options
Control Panel Home Require a password on wakeup Choose what the power buttons do Create a power plan Choose when to turn off the display Change when the computer sleeps See also Personalization	ower Options Search Control Panel Search Control Panel Select a power plan Power plans can help you maximize your computer's performance or conserve energy. Make a plan active by selecting it, or choose a plan and customize it by changing its power settings. Tell me more about power plans Preferred plans Balanced (recommended) Change plan settings Automatically balances performance with energy consumption on capable hardware. High performance Change plan settings Favors performance, but may use more energy. Show additional plans	Advanced settings Select the power plan that you want to customize, and then choose settings that reflect how you want your computer to manage power. Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced Balanced
User Accounts		OK Cancel Apply

Under "preferred plans", you will see multiple options. Click "Change plan settings" to the right of one of these options to bring up the Power Options menu (see image above, right side). Expand the "Sleep" option by clicking the plus sign to its left, and set the values to the following:

Sleep after: Never

Hibernate after: Never

Allow hybrid sleep: Off

Next, expand the "USB Settings" option and set the values to the following:

USB selective suspend: Disabled

Click the "OK" button to save these settings.

[©] Copyright Nov. 2022 ShopBot Tools, Inc.

4. Windows update settings/Disable network connection.

To disable Windows Updates, open the Start Menu* (for Windows 7, click "Start"; for Windows 8, swipe from the right). Type "Windows Update" in the search box and press Enter. This will bring up the Windows Update settings. In the left-hand pane, select "Change settings". Under "Important updates", select "Never check for updates (not recommended)" and click "OK".

🚱 💬 🗠 K Control Panel 🕨 All Control Panel Items 🕨 Windows Update 🕨 Change settings 🔹 🚽 Search Control Panel	Q
Choose how Windows can install updates When your computer is online, Windows can automatically check for important updates and install them using these settings. When new updates are available, you can also install them before shutting down the computer. How does automatic updating help me?	
Important updates Important updates Important updates Important updates Important updates Important updates	
Install new updates: Every day at 3:00 AM Recommended updates Give me recommended updates the same way I receive important updates Who can install updates	
 Allow all users to install updates on this computer Microsoft Update Give me updates for Microsoft products and check for new optional Microsoft software when I update Windows 	
Software notifications Show me detailed notifications when new Microsoft software is available Note: Windows Update might update itself automatically first when checking for other updates. Read our	
OK Cancel	

Set Windows Updates settings to "Never check for updates". This will disable automatic checks and allow you to manually update at your convenience.

*NOTE: Windows 10 does not have this same functionality. To disable updates, you can place the machine into Airplane Mode or disable the computer's Wireless Adapter.

© Copyright Nov. 2022 ShopBot Tools, Inc.

5. Disable background tasks.

Next, you should disable any conflicting background tasks. To access the Task Manager, press "Ctrl+Alt+Delete" and select "Task Manager".

pplications	Proces	ses Services	Performance	e Networking	Users	
Image N	ame	User Name	CPU	Memory (Description	*
chrome.	exe *32	tom.hartnett	00	222,556 K	Google Chrome	=
svchost.	exe	SYSTEM	00	178,712 K	Host Process for Windows Services	
OUTLOO	K.EX	tom.hartnett	00	144,632 K	Microsoft Outlook	
Dropbox	.exe	tom.hartnett	00	123,692 K	Dropbox	
chrome.	exe *32	tom.hartnett	00	111,916 K	Google Chrome	
chrome.	exe *32	tom.hartnett	02	107,960 K	Google Chrome	
chrome.	exe *32	tom.hartnett	00	106,116 K	Google Chrome	
chrome.	exe *32	tom.hartnett	00	81,548 K	Google Chrome	
chrome.	exe *32	tom.hartnett	00	73,616 K	Google Chrome	
chrome.	exe *32	tom.hartnett	00	65,660 K	Google Chrome	
chrome.	exe *32	tom.hartnett	00	63,224 K	Google Chrome	
MsMpEn	g.exe	SYSTEM	00	62,936 K	Antimalware Service Executable	
WINWO	RD.E	tom.hartnett	00	60,824 K	Microsoft Word	
chrome.	exe *32	tom.hartnett	00	50,812 K	Google Chrome	
explorer	.exe	tom.hartnett	00	48,676 K	Windows Explorer	-
- -	****			III 00.004.14		
		C 1				_

With the Task Manager open, click on the "Processes" tab, which will bring up a list. Click on the "Memory" column header to organize the list by physical memory used. Make a list of any programs that are utilizing excess memory and are unnecessary to the function of ShopBot 3. Then, sort the list by "CPU" column and do the same.

Next, we will uninstall unnecessary programs. To access the Uninstall window, search from your Start menu, type in "Uninstall", and press Enter. Then select "Programs and Features" (you can also navigate directly to **Control Panel > Programs and Features > Uninstall or change a program**) and sort the results by name or date installed.

Control Panel	 All Control Panel Items Programs and Features 	 ✓ ✓ 	n Programs and	l Features	_
Control Panel Home View installed updates	Uninstall or change a program	and then click Uninstall Change or Renair.			
Turn Windows features on or	ro uninstan a program, select it nom the ist	and then their officially officially of hepath			
off	Organize 🔻				2
Install a program from the network	Name	Publisher	Installed On	Size	Ver
	ShopBot 3 Version 3.8.40	ShopBot Tools, Inc.	2/25/2016	60.1 MB	
	Slack	Slack Technologies	2/25/2016	69.5 MB	2.0
	Microsoft Security Essentials	Microsoft Corporation	2/24/2016		4.9
	Stropbox	Dropbox, Inc.	2/22/2016		3.
	Mimecast for Outlook 32-bit	Mimecast Ltd	2/12/2016	24.3 MB	6.
	Adobe Flash Player 20 ActiveX	Adobe Systems Incorporated	2/10/2016	7.84 MB	20
	Java SE Development Kit 8 Update 74	Oracle Corporation	2/8/2016	298 MB	8.
	Java 8 Update 74	Oracle Corporation	2/8/2016	89.1 MB	8.
	MinSCP 5.8.1 beta	Martin Prikryl	2/2/2016	30.4 MB	5.
	Votepad++	Notepad++ Team	2/2/2016		6.
	Autodesk Fusion 360	Autodesk, Inc.	2/2/2016	1.06 GB	2.
	Skype [™] 7.18	Skype Technologies S.A.	2/1/2016	79.9 MB	7.
	📥 Google Drive	Google, Inc.	1/30/2016	35.2 MB	1.
	🖌 Aspire 8.0	Vectric	1/28/2016		8.
	🕒 RingCentral Meetings	Zoom Video Communications, I	1/20/2016	9.76 MB	3.
	Spotify	Spotify AB	1/18/2016		1.
	🥪 Microsoft Silverlight	Microsoft Corporation	1/13/2016	348 MB	5.
	Geeks3D FurMark 1.17.0.0	Geeks3D	1/4/2016	7.83 MB	
	Microsoft .NET Framework 4.5.2	Microsoft Corporation	12/18/2015	38.8 MB	4.
	🔄 RingCentral for Windows	RingCentral	11/16/2015	387 MB	7.
	f.lux		10/19/2015		
	•				•

Using the list created in the previous step, address any programs that are not essential to ShopBot 3 operation. Most specifically, you will want to remove or disable any programs that perform scans or update automatically in the background.

Be sure to uninstall any third party antivirus, firewalls, anti-spyware, iTunes, file sharing, and game services. If an antivirus software is needed, Windows Security Essentials (comes with Windows 7 & 8) or Windows Defender (Windows 10) should not affect the communication of the tool.

6. Make sure the USB cable from the ShopBot is not plugged in.

Having the USB cable plugged into the tool while installing the SB3 software can cause issues with the installation, so keep the cable unplugged until all installation is done.

Conclusion

Following the preceding steps are meant for those running a ShopBot on a computer for the first time. Note that the procedure for disabling tasks and programs can vary depending on the version of Windows and software being run. It is recommended that you consult with your operating system guide, software documentation, or systems administrator before making any major changes to software. If you are unable to find a specific setting or process mentioned anywhere in this guide, a search on the TalkShopBot forums or Google can generally give the results you need.

[©] Copyright Nov. 2022 ShopBot Tools, Inc.

Installing ShopBot 3 Control Software and VCarve Pro Software

Note: Make sure USB cable from the control box and VFD are **<u>not</u>** plugged into the computer.

ShopBot 3 Control Software: The SB3 Control Software is located on the blue thumb drive, which should be hooked to one of the rings in your ShopBot Handbook.





Open the drive, and then open the "ShopBot CONTROL Software" folder. Right click the Setup file and click "Run as administrator", then follow the instructions.

Note: Once the SB3 software is installed, you will need to right click the SB3 icon and choose "Run as administrator" the first time you run it to complete the installation.

De Size
e folder
plication 27,342 KB
p

VCarve Pro Software: ShopBot customers are now able to register their Vectric software license directly and receive a V&Co. portal account.

Note: Any ShopBot customer wishing to later <u>update</u> or <u>upgrade</u> their software must do so via their Vectric customer portal (not through ShopBot).

You should have received an email after purchasing the ShopBot tool with the link to the Vectric portal and your registered username and license number. The software should be registered by the individual who will control the license and will be tied to that single contact person and the email address used to register. Any change in contact or registered email address can only be done by emailing <u>support@vectric.com</u>.

Note: Reach out to ShopBot if you did not receive an email with your Login info

After registering your license, you can log into your Vectric V&Co. portal again by:

1. Go to the URL: <u>https://portal.vectric.com/</u>

2. Enter the email address you used to register the software and the password you picked

How can I download my software, clipart and license details?

Your V&Co. account will always hold your license information, and the latest version of software (including patch upgrades) you are entitled to, so you don't have to worry about losing your details or re-installing your software if you get a new computer, but you will need to use the credentials including the email address you used to register.

1. Log into your V&Co. portal account (see above)

2. Scroll down to the section 'your latest software, clipart and licenses and click 'view downloads'

- 3. Click 'view license and download' for the required product
- 4. From the 'downloads' section click 'download' for the item you wish to download and install

Software Overview

All programs included with the ShopBot are now installed. The icons below represent how they will appear on the computer desktop.



Plug in Pendant and Connect Power

Pendant Connection



Plug the pendant into the connector on the tool located in the rear (on Desktop tools) or right side (Desktop MAX tools).

The pendant has three functions:

1) A keyed interlock switch to cut power to the router or spindle. The machine can still be moved with the interlock turned off, but the cutting head will not be able to spin.

Machine ON/OFF Switch

2) A start/stop button. For non-emergencies, simply hit the spacebar on the computer keyboard or the start/stop button on the pendant. This will pause the tool while maintaining XYZ coordinates, allowing the cut file to resume without starting over.

3) An emergency stop switch. Pressing the emergency stop is the same as turning off the main power switch. The tool will immediately stop moving and the cutter will turn off. Machine position WILL be lost during an emergency stop. To release the emergency stop on the pendant, turn the red button clockwise until it releases and pops up.

The presence of an emergency stop switch does not alter the need for good safety procedures while operating the ShopBot tool.

Also note that if the pendant is not plugged into the machine, the machine will not power on. If the pendant comes unplugged, the emergency stop will automatically trigger and the machine will shut down.





Install power cord into the back of the tool.

© Copyright Nov. 2022 ShopBot Tools, Inc.

Plug the power cord into a standard 110 volt 15 amp receptacle. (International tools 220v)

Note: Do not use a ground fault circuit interrupter. (GFCI)



Connect USB cable to computer and Windows will

the same USB port every time the ShopBot is attached

USB Cable

 \times

Cancel



Install USB Cable into the back side of the machine.



Launch Software

to the computer.

recognize a "New Device."



Right-click the ShopBot 3 icon and select Run as Administrator to open the machine's control program for the first time.

Missing SHOPBOT.INI Settings File ...

[Normal if this is the first time you've used the software or you are Loading a Settings File.]

OK

Select and Load Settings File ?

... or Cancel to Exit ShopBot Software.

The first time the program is opened, there will not be a settings file for the machine. Click "OK" and a prompt will appear to load a settings file for the machine.

© Copyright Nov. 2022 ShopBot Tools, Inc.

×

🔛 Select a File v	vith Default Settings Appropriate for your Tool		×	
Look in:	Settings	⇐ 🗈 📩 🎫		
Quick access Desktop Libraries	Name PRS ShopBots	Date modified 5/11/2018 9:25 AM 5/11/2018 9:25 AM	Type File folder File folder	Access the PRS ShopBots folder and Open it.
This PC	<		>	Find the Desktop Settings file, "ShopBot_PRSDesktop2418.sbd" or "ShopBot_PRSDesktopMAX3624.sbd" depending on your model
	File name: *.sbd Files of type: Default Settings Files (*.sbd)	•	Open Cancel	

Belect a File with Default Settings Appropriate for your Tool

Note: If this file is not available, it can be found on the ShopBot website under the Control Software heading, or at:

Look in:	PRS ShopBot	\$	•	← 🗈 💣 💷 ◄	
4	Name	^	~	Date modified	Туре
Quick access	PRS_alpha	a Tools a Tools - with Zprox inclu	ding A	5/11/2018 9:25 AM 5/11/2018 9:25 AM	File folder File folder
	PRS_stand	lard Tools	1	5/11/2018 9:25 AM	File folder
Desktop	PRS_stand	lard Tools - with Zprox		5/11/2018 9:25 AM	File folder
-	🛃 Handibot	V1		5/31/2016 1:28 PM	ShopBot [
•	🖌 ShopBot_	PRSDesktop2418		5/31/2016 1:28 PM	ShopBot [
Libraries	🟠 ShopBot_	PRSDesktopMAX3624		5/31/2016 1:28 PM	ShopBot [
This PC					
۲					
Network					
	<				>
	File name:	ShopBot_PRSDesktopMA	X3624	•	Open
	Files of type:	Default Settings Files (*.sb	d)	-	Cancel

https://support.shopbottools.com/support/control-software

Save the file to a thumb drive for future reference

Set up Home Position and Square the Machine

The Desktop tools are somewhat unique among the ShopBot tool lineup in that they do not use the default home position indicated by the SB3 software. Upon loading the Desktop tool profile the home location should be correct. However, if it is not for any reason, the following procedure will change the home position to be at the corner of the MDF spoil board that was installed at the factory.

The second procedure will square the gantry of the machine by crashing it against the hard stops. Because the gantry is driven by one motor on each side, it is possible for the motors to come out of sync. This can happen if the machine is moved with the power off (like during shipping), or if the machine were to hit something unintended and lose position.

The squaring part of the procedure will produce a loud "grinding" sound, as the stepper motors are stalling out. This does not, however, harm the motors in any way.

In the SB3 software, click the "Cut Part" button at the bottom of the window.





Stand clear of the tool when it is in motion, preferably standing near the computer that is controlling the tool's operation. A ShopBot is a very safe power tool as long as safety procedures are followed. A file browser window will now pop up. Navigate to C:\SBParts\

This folder can found by going to the "Computer" file location, then open the "C:" drive or main disc found under "Devices and Drives," there the SBParts folder should be found. The folder should look like the figure shown:

📙 🕑 📜 🔻 SbParts			- 🗆 ×
File Home Share	View		~ 📀
Navigation Details pane pane • Panes	Image icons Imag	Image: Construction of the sector of the	oxes tensions Hide selected items ow/hide
🔶 🔶 👻 🕇 🖡 🔸 Thi	s PC > Local Disk (C:) > SbParts		✓ Ů Search SbParts
	 a_PostProcessors_forCAMsoftware Custom Custom_CopyOEM Five Axis MyProjects Plasma Training VacuumTables a_DESKTOP First Setup a_DESKTOP Squaring Azero b_Desktop MAX Squaring 	 bb_Desktop MAX First Setup Drill Offset Initial_Calibration_Handibot_V1 Laser_Control_Demo PartWorks_PostProcessors sample_BuddyTop sample_Center_inHole sample_demo1 sample_DishDome sample_drill sample_exrcis 	 sample_keypad_in_file sample_nest sample_pause_for_switch sample_rrect sample_Set2SpindleOffsets sample_swirl Set_Limits SetZprox Showing_Tool_Simulation_in_Preview XYzero Zzero
27 itoms	<		>
57 items			

Select either the file named "aa_DESKTOP First Setup" if you have a Desktop or "bb_Desktop MAX First Setup" if you have a MAX and then click the Open button.



When prompted, click "Yes" to run routine. The program does not visibly do anything, but it will change your proximity switch offset variables for cutting the rabbet into your spoil board in a later step.

Are you sure you want to run this custom proximity switch offsets.	routine? This will over	write any
	Vec	No

Press "Cut Part" again.

Locate and Open "aa_DESKTOP Squaring" or "bb_Desktop MAX Squaring" file in the SBParts folder.

Then click START to run the squaring routine.

[©] Copyright Nov. 2022 ShopBot Tools, Inc.

Really Run?

When prompted, click "Yes" to run the routine.

Are you sure you want to run this routine? This will run the gantry aginst the hard stops to square it. X position WILL be lost.



IMPORTANT! This procedure should be performed any time the machine is crashed, after the gantry is



moved by hand with the power turned off, or after the machine is moved to ensure that the gantry is square. If this process is not performed, the cut program could be noticeably off.

Zero the X- and Y-axes

Note: Ensure the setup and squaring process has been run prior to performing this step!

The cutting head now needs to be in the lower left (front) corner of the deck (X=0, Y=0 position).

As an 1/8" rabbet is being cut into the spoil board around the whole edge, the 0,0 location will be 1/8" from the home corner.



Click the white button marked with the "XY." Or select the

[C]uts->C[3] Home XY Axes Using Prox Switches function from the dropdown menu.

The machine will now move through an automatic routine that zeroes the X- and Y-axes to the lower left (front) corner of the machine using the proximity switches.

Once the routine finishes, the X and Y locations in the position window should now read .000 units. The physical location of the cutting head should be 1/8" in from the corner of the board, ready for the rabbet cut.

If the location is not correct, refer first to the video tutorial for steps on setting up the home location before cutting the rabbet file: "Desktop Series –

Beginning Cuts and Operations" https://youtu.be/vscFI13_tOE.

		×
Tool is now Zeroe	d in X and Y Axis.	
ОК	Quit	
	Tool is now Zeroe	Tool is now Zeroed in X and Y Axis.

Click OK on the "Tool is now Zeroed" message.

© Copyright Nov. 2022 ShopBot Tools, Inc.

The cutting head should now be in the front corner of the deck.

The picture to the right shows a Desktop MAX at the home position while standing at the left end of the tool.

Below is a close up picture of the cutting head at the 1/8" from the corner mark on a Desktop.





Tool Movement

The Position Window

This red panel provides essential machine information and controls. The following steps will walk through the most frequently used controls and steps to get up and running, this includes: installing a bit, zeroing the machines X-, Y-, and Z- axes, and cutting.

Click on the yellow button to bring up the "KeyPad" panel.



The Keypad

Note: Do not move the tool with the keypad until the "Setup Home Position and Square the Machine" step is complete.

This window allows the user to manually move the X-, Y,- and Z-axes of the machine. Click on the blue arrows to move the spindle/router and gantry.

X- and Y-axes can also be moved with the cursor buttons on the computer keyboard. Use the "Page Up" and "Page Down" buttons on the keyboard to move the Z-axis up and down.

Move the spindle to a safe Z position below the Z proximity switch and near the middle of the deck.

Click on the X in the upper right corner to close yellow KeyPad.



|----- **D**!+



Collet and Collet Nut for the spindle.



NOTE: If you purchased a MAX ATC, refer to your Desktop MAX ATC User Manual for instructions on how to set up your collets and collet nuts in the tool holders.



Press the spindle collet into the spindle nut and listen for the "click." It may be necessary to press it in at a slight angle. Confirm that the collet is snapped in place by holding the nut upside-down (shown in the photo at left) and letting the collet hang freely. It should not fall out.

The first cut done is the profile rabbet cut which is done with the 1/4" diameter upcut spiral bit. Install this bit now if cutting the rabbet.

Slide the bit into the collet. Ideally, the shank of the bit should fill up at least 75% of the collet to provide sufficient gripping surface. It is okay if the shank of the bit extends above the top of the collet (maximum 3/8" of excess). Make sure that the collet grips only the shank of the bit, keeping the top edge of the flutes outside of the collet.





Remove bottom of dust foot by pushing it down. It is attached with magnets, which makes it easy to remove. Set dust foot out of the way.



Hold spindle to keep it from turning, and hand-thread collet nut onto spindle. It should go on very easily. If resistance is encountered, do NOT apply force. Stop and try again until it goes smoothly. Once the nut is finger-tight, reposition the bit if it has slipped.

Х

Jog Next



Use the included wrenches to fully tighten the nut.

Over-tightening will make the collet difficult to remove and may damage it. Under-tightening will allow the bit to slip during operation.

Tightening the collet nut without fully installing the collet may also bind the assembly beyond recovery.

A firm one-hand squeeze is usually sufficient – a torque of approximately 59 ft-lbs.

KeyPad

X

Y

Z

Go To Location

6.000

6-000

2-000

Zero the Z-Axis

Zeroing the Z-axis requires a few more steps than zeroing the X- and Y-axes, be sure to run it a few times to ensure it is properly performed and understood.

Refer to the *Zeroing the Z-Axis* section of the "Desktop Series – Beginning Cuts and Operations" video for more information and a demonstration of the process. <u>https://youtu.be/vscFl13_tOE</u>.





Z-axis up to around 2 inches above the table.

The picture above shows the KeyPad after moving to a convenient location for zeroing the Z-axis.

Now plug the Z-zeroing assembly into the corresponding socket found on the gantry table leg with the VFD and gantry motor.



Attach the Z-zero grounding clip to the router bit (or collet nut) and touch the Z-zero plate to the bottom of the bit.

When the Z-zero plate touches the router bit, Input 1 should light up. The Input 1 light will go off when the Z plate is removed.

It is important to check this each time the grounding clip is connected to verify contact is good. If Input 1 does not light up, ensure the grounding clip is well connected and try again. To the right is a picture of Input 1 lit up.

After confirming Input 1 is behaving correctly, place the Z-zero plate on top of the spoil board beneath the router bit.

Note: Machine can be Z-zeroed to the top of the spoil board or to the top of the project material depending on how the design file is set up.

0,0

Click the white button marked "Z" shown in the image to the right.

Pause in File				
+++ Hit ENT	ER When at	ove pla	te and Read	y to Zero 🏎
		-		-
	OK		Quit	

A prompt will appear, ensuring that the Z-zero plate is under the router bit. Double check the location of the Z-zero plate and click OK. An alarm will sound to signify that the tool is going to begin moving.

Hold the Z-zero plate level while the routine runs.

© Copyright Nov. 2022 ShopBot Tools, Inc.

The cutting head will lower until the bit contacts the Z-zero plate. It will then retract and repeat the process.

Wait for the router bit to contact the Z-zero plate twice before removing the Z-zero plate or grounding clip.

After the bit makes second contact with the Z-zero plate, it will retract to a position of $\frac{1}{2}$ " above the deck. The Z-axis is now zeroed to the top of the MDF deck. This is the *Safe-Z Pullup* height which can be customized in the **[V]alues->[C]utter Values** menu.

Pause in File	
ZEROED! REMEMBER TO REMOVE ALLIGATOR CLIP AND PUT AWAY PLATE!	
OK Quit	Click "OK" to exit the program.







If using dust collection, re-attach the dust foot now.



During operation, keep area around machine free from people and objects.

Move to Home Position – Keypad Shortcut



Click the button marked 0,0 shown in the picture to the left.

This will move the cutting head to the machines home position at the lower left (front) corner of the machine, as long as the tool has not lost position. Otherwise, the XY Zeroing routine will need to be run before the Home Position shortcut can be used effectively.

Spindle Warm-up Routine

Desktop tools equipped with a spindle require a warm-up cycle to bring the spindle bearings up to operating temperature. To do this, a routine is run at the normal operating RPM for 10 minutes while not under load. This should be done any time the spindle has been sitting idle for more than 3 hours.

Identify the spindle interlock switch, which is used to lock out power to the spindle for additional safety (picture to the right shows the key in the ENGAGED position).

Turn the spindle interlock switch ON by turning the key in a clockwise motion.



Locate the Variable-Frequency Drive (VFD) installed on the tool. This is used to control the RPMs of the spindle (shown in the picture to the left).



Adjust the knob so the display on the VFD reads approximately F200. This value represents the frequency the spindle is set to, F200 equals 12,000 RPM. Each 100 increment on the display is equivalent to 6,000 RPM for 60Hz power.



There are two methods to run this routine.

1) From the SB3 Command Console, select the [C]uts->C[5] -Spindle Warmup routine

2) Open the yellow KeyPad and click on the Output 1 button in the position window (shown in the picture to the right).



ANOW STARTING ROUTER/SPINDLE !

Start Router/Spindle with 'Start' Button, then click OK to Run PartFile. Cancel to terminate.

[If tool without Router/Spindle Control -- Turn on Router/Spindle Now.]



Х

Then click "OK" on the prompt for the spindle to start. Allow it to run for 10 minutes to warmup.

After the warmup completes, clock on the "X" to close the yellow KeyPad.

Desktop Spindle RPM Settings

Frequency to RPM chart for 60Hz (US, Canada, and Mexico. May also apply to other countries)

Display	Spindle RPM
300	15,000
266	13,300
233	11,650
200	10,000
166	8,300
133	6,650
100	5,000

Display	Spindle RPM
300	18,000
266	16,000
233	14,000
200	12,000
166	10,000
133	8,000
100	6,000

Frequency to RPM chart for 50Hz (Europe and most other regions)

Trim the Deck

Note: Do not proceed with this section until X-, Y-, and Z-axes have been zeroed and the spindle is warmed up!

Refer to the *Cutting the Rabbet* section of the "Desktop Series – Beginning Cuts and Operations" video for more information and a demonstration of this process. <u>https://youtu.be/vscFl13_tOE</u>.

This step will cut a rabbet around the perimeter of the MDF deck to reveal the cutting area. Ensure the X-, Y- and Z-axes have been zeroed prior to running this routine.





02 Basic Deck Rabbet Profile DTMAX



If the file needs to be downloaded, go to <u>www.shopbottools.com</u>, then click on the ShopBot Docs link at the center of the top of the main page. Then click on you tool (either Desktop or Desktop MAX).

Scroll to the bottom of the page under the "Files" heading and download the machine setup files (the "Work Area Cut File") that corresponds with the tool type.



Download the zipped folder containing the rabbet .sbp file. Extract the file from the zipped folder and save it to the desktop

If the ShopBot 3 software is not currently open, double-click the ShopBot 3 shortcut icon to open the software.

Click the "Cut Part" button in the red position window.

🔛 Select a Shop	Bot Part File		×	
Look in:	02 Basic Deck Rabbet Profile DTMAX	+ 🗈 💣 🎟 -		Navigate to the "Work Area Cut File,"
Quick access	Name	Date modified 6/21/2018 2:25 PM	Type ShopBot F	double-click it or select it and click Open.

Cut Part



Things to keep in mind:

The center section of the deck represents the useful cutting area of the Desktop, which is 24" x 36" on the Desktop MAX and 24" x 18" on the Desktop.

The lower left (front) corner of this center section represents the home position for the X- and Y-axes.

In many design programs, the ShopBot cut file created will have the tool automatically return to this position after it completes the cut.

Most X, Y measurements for designing and routine are based off this datum/home location.

[©] Copyright Nov. 2022 ShopBot Tools, Inc.

Switch to ShopBot FULL

If not already in full mode, this section covers how to switch to ShopBot FULL from the ShopBotEASY interface which has limited functionality.



To do this from the ShopBotEASY position window, click on the blue help (?) button.



At the bottom of the window, click on the "Switch to FULL" button.

Click "OK" to continue to the FULL interface.



When the command console pops up, notice the "EASY" button is now available for switching back to ShopBotEASY.

Surfacing the Deck

Before continuing, for a visual demonstration and more information on creating and running the surfacing file in SB3 or VCarve Pro, refer to the *Cutting the Rabbet* section of the "Desktop Series – Creating Surfacing File" video - <u>https://youtu.be/vscFI13_tOE</u>.



The basic deck is made of MDF which makes a good sacrificial surface, but the thickness can vary due to the manufacture of the material and changes in humidity. For most cutting operations this does not matter, but for critical depth cutting/pocket cutting or v-carving, the MDF should be surfaced first.

Use the "Table Surfacer" routine under "Tools" in the FULL ShopBot control. It can also be accessed by typing "TU".

Tabletop Surfacer	-		×
ShopBot table size?			
24 Table top len	igth (X-a	ixis)	
18 Table top he	ight (Y-a	ixis)	
Flattening bit values?			
1.25 Bit diameter?	03	Dept	th?
15 Bit overlap per	centage	?	
Which corner is your starting	point?		
• #1 #2 • • #4 (recommended) #3 g,			
Cutting Direction			
Clockwise Counter-clockwise			
Make my surfacing file			
	_		

Choose a straight bit that is ½" or greater in diameter, then zero the bit to the top of the MDF. During the surfacing file, a lot of sawdust will be generated. Make sure the dust collection is hooked up and running before cutting if being used.

The default table size numbers may need to be changed to $36" \times 24"$ on the MAX or $24" \times 18"$ on the Desktop.

Set the depth to somewhere between -.01" and -.03" depending on how much variance in height the MDF has.

Laying a straight edge across the material is one of many methods that can help determine how much variance there is.

Change the bit diameter to match the chosen bit (1.25" in this example).

Then click the "Make my surfacing file" button.

Creat file?		×
Next you'll select a name for your fla Are you ready?	ttening file and run it in	preview.
	Yes	No

Click "Yes" to proceed to the save window.

Save the file with a name that is easy to remember, in a location that is easy to find. Include the tool in the name for convenience later.

Click "Save" and a preview file will appear. Open and run the cut file. If an area of the deck is left unsurfaced, re-zero the Z-axis to the area that was missed and rerun the surfacing program.

Select a name for y	ur surfacing file			×
> -> 🛧 📙	→ This PC → Local Disk (C:) → SbParts v 🖑	Search SbParts		٩
Organize 🔻 Nev	folder		· = = •	?
This PC	Name Date modified	Туре	Size	^
3D Objects	a_PostProcessors_forCAMsoftware 5/11/2018 9:25 AM	A File folder		
Desktop	Custom 5/11/2018 9:27 AM	A File folder		
	Custom_CopyOEM 5/11/2018 9:25 AM	A File folder		
Develoada	Five Axis 5/11/2018 9:25 AM	A File folder		
- Downloads	MyProjects 5/11/2018 9:25 AM	A File folder		
Music	Plasma 5/11/2018 9:25 AM	A File folder		
Pictures	Training 5/11/2018 9:25 AM	A File folder		
📑 Videos	VacuumTables 5/11/2018 9:25 AM	A File folder		
🏪 Local Disk (C:)	aa_DESKTOP First Setup 2/7/2018 10:12 AM	A ShopBot Part File		2 K
👳 sbcenter (\\sh	aa_DESKTOP Squaring 2/8/2018 3:01 PM	ShopBot Part File		9 K 🗸
-	✓ <			>
File name:	surface_top			~
Save as type:	ShopBot (*.sbp)			~
 Hide Folders 		Save	Cancel	

Repeat this program any time the deck gets worn from use. When the MDF deck gets thin and close to the bolts holding the deck to the machine, simply glue on a new piece of MDF – there is no need to remove the thin part that is still attached.

VCar

Open an existing file

Recently opened files ...

Apple_Fall.crv Elf_1.crv

Tutorial Video Browser...
Open Tutorial Files Folder

Online Resources
Vectric Web Site
Support Web Site

Vectric Forum

💼 Design & Make

Vectric on Facebook

Elf.crv

Video Tutoriale

Startup Tasks
Create a new file
New file from template

VCarve Pro



VCarve Pro is the designing/tool-pathing program that is included with the ShopBot and is used to create the part files for cutting.

When VCarve Pro is installed, it can be started through the shortcut icon shown to the left, or from the Start menu.

When first using VCarve Pro, it will be necessary to enter the registered username and license code provided with the machine purchase via email.

Tutorials are included with the installation and also can be found online. They are located in the "Tutorial Video Browser" section of VCarve Pro.



The graphic above is a basic overview of the program interface. There are many resources available about how to use this program. Some examples are tutorials, training at ShopBot, online training through ShopBot, help files provided in the program, and online support. Be sure to take advantage of these resources, many of them are listed in the resources section.

© Copyright Nov. 2022 ShopBot Tools, Inc.

Maintenance

The ShopBot Desktop tools are very robust machines and do not often require maintenance. The table below covers general maintenance guidelines.

Item/Duration	Maintenance
Motor Screws	Wipe screws with a clean dry cloth.
	DO NOT USE any kind of lube or solvent-based cleaner on the Teflon coated screws. Doing so could cause the Teflon to flake off.
Rails	Wipe them with a clean, dry rag.
	Apply a light coat of machine oil. Wipe off excess oil as too much will attract dust.
After every 40 hours of use	Check for loose screws and parts.
On an as needed basis	Blow dust and debris out of hard to reach areas. Remove the blue panel covering the electronics enclosure and check for debris. This is especially true if cutting aluminum.
On an as needed basis (approximately every six months)	Wipe clean collets, collet nuts, and collet end of arbor. Apply a light coat of machine oil with an oil dampened rag (not soaked or dripping) to keep from rust.
NOTE: Damage or wear due to misuse or an ac- cident will require additional attention depending on the problem.	

Transportation

The Desktop doesn't require any special considerations when moving or transporting the tool. The tool can weigh 150-190 lbs depending on the accessories and configuration of the tool. Ensure at least one additional person is present to help to carry or move the tool.

DO NOT quickly or forcefully move the gantry, as a charge can build in the motors and discharge through the control board. If possible, secure the gantry during transport.

After transporting, you will need to perform the *Tool Movement* and *Axis Zeroing* procedures described earlier in this document

Resources

ShopBot Tutorials & Videos

https://support.shopbottools.com/training/tutorials

ShopBot Training Classes

https://support.shopbottools.com/training/basic

CAD/CAM Software Packages

http://www.shopbottools.com/mProducts/software.htm

Tooling, Materials, and more...

www.shopbottools.com/mSupport/resourcelist.htm

ShopBot Forum

http://www.talkshopbot.com/forum/forum.php

Technical Support

https://support.shopbottools.com/support/